IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

PENNY PINCHERS

VS

LENETRA OUTLAW

APPELLANT

2009-CA 01324

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel for the Appellant, Penny Pinchers, hereby certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusals.

PARTIES

Penny Pinchers 8047 Highway 50 West West Point, Mississippi 39773 Defendant and Appellant

William B. Johnson 804 Highway 50 West West Point, Mississippi 39773 Defendant and Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of Trial Court

On February 1, 2007, Appellee Lenetra Outlaw (hereinafter referred to as "Outlaw") filed suit against Cynthia Scott, Penny Pinchers and William B. Johnson d/b/a Penny Pinchers. [R-11-17]¹. ("Penny Pinchers") Outlaw alleged failure to maintain the premises of the store in a reasonably safe condition, negligent failure to warn of a known danger, and failure to properly confine or restrain the dog as to prevent having susceptible customers frightened and so as to prevent the risk of aggressive behavior by the dog toward customers against Penny Pinchers. [R-11-11-17]

After three years of litigation, Penny Pinchers filed their motion for summary judgment and memorandum in support of same on January 20, 2009. [R-42-82 and 83-92] The Circuit Court of Clay County denied Penny Pinchers' motion for summary judgment and motion to dismiss individual Cynthia Scott and reserved it's ruling on Penny Pinchers' motion to strike Outlaw's experts on March 20, 2009. [R-206-208] (Filed March 25, 2009.) Trial regarding this matter commenced on April 8, 2009. [T-1] The jury returned a verdict in favor of Lenetra Outlaw on April 9, 2009. [R-353] A Final Judgment was entered by the Circuit Court of Clay County in favor of Lenetra Outlaw on April 23, 2009. [R-359-360] Thereafter, Penny Pinchers' filed their Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the alternative, Motion for New Trial on May 1, 2009. [R-361-391] A hearing was held on Penny Pinchers' post trial motions on July 14, 2009, and, at that time, the Court entered an Order denying Penny Pinchers' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial. [R-428]. Penny Pinchers filed their Notice of Appeal to this Court on August 10, 2009. [R-429-430]

¹ Citations to the RECORD will be as follows: [R-Page Number]. Citations to the Transcript will be as {591182.DOC}2

B. Statement of the Facts

On August 16, 2006 Lenetra Outlaw, [T-140] entered the Penny Pinchers grocery store located at 804 Hwy 50 West, West Point, Mississippi. Inside the store were Cindy Scott, the manager of the store, Ivy Mann, a customer, and Anita Reeves, an employee of Penny Pinchers. [T-112] Also located within the store was "Sophie", Ms. Scott's four (4) month old four (4) pound miniature Dachshund puppy. [T-113 & T124 PHOTO OF SOPHIE]

Outlaw testified that when she entered the store and turned down a store aisle she heard barking coming from the area around the checkout counter. [T144-145]. Outlaw without ever seeing what was barking or exactly where this barking was coming from ran down the aisle toward the back of the store. [T144-145] Outlaw testified that she could hear the pattering of feet behind her as she ran blindly down the aisle. [T-144-145] Outlaw testified that the miniature Dachshund puppy was chasing her. [T145-146] The other witnesses at the store dispute that Sophie chased Outlaw. [T-114] Furthermore, Scott and the other witnesses described Sophie's "bark" as more of a "yelp" in an attempt to get her owner's attention, not an aggressive sounding bark. [T114 & T195]. Outlaw admits that Sophie did not bite her or touch her in any way. [T-179]

Outlaw testified that in an effort to get away from the barking of Sophie, the four month old miniature Dachshund puppy, she attempted to jump onto a chest type freezer. [T166] After jumping on the freezer Outlaw did not complain of any injury. In fact, Outlaw walked 15ft to another chest freezer where she had to reach down into the bottom of the freezer to get a five pound bag of catfish, then walked 38ft placed the five pound bag of catfish on the counter, then walked 15ft to another aisle where she picked up a four pound bag of sugar off of the bottom shelf and then walked 15ft to the front counter with the sugar². [T118; T127; T148-149 & T-186-187] Only when she reached the front counter and placed the sugar on the counter did she complain of any injury. [T-118, T127-129; T149].

Outlaw sued the owner³ of the puppy and Penny Pinchers, alleging that Sophie, a (4) month old miniature dachshund puppy, constituted a dangerous condition and she was injured because of Penny Pinchers allowing Sophie on the premises. It is undisputed that prior to August 16, 2006, Sophie had never demonstrated any dangerous or aggressive propensities.[R-73-74] [T124-125; T129; T190-191].

This lawsuit was tried before a jury on April 8 and 9, 2009, in West Point, Clay County, Mississippi. [T-1]. After the close of Outlaw's case in chief, the trial court heard Penny Pinchers' Motion for Directed Verdict. [T-221-241] Penny Pinchers moved for Directed Verdict based on the fact that Outlaw had presented no evidence that any dangerous condition existed. Outlaw failed to present any evidence to demonstrate that Sophie had previously exhibited any dangerous propensities prior to the incident nor did Outlaw prove Penny Pinchers knew or should have known of these propensities. In fact, Outlaw, did not put on any proof that Penny Pinchers failed to warn her of any dangerous condition or that Penny Pinchers knew or should have known of the four month old puppy's "dangerous propensities", if any. The Court denied Penny Pinchers' Motion for Directed Verdict, despite the lack of evidence proffered by Outlaw. [T-236]

The jury rendered a verdict in favor of Lenetra Outlaw, for \$130,000.00. The jury found Penny Pinchers and William B. Johnson d/b/a Penny Pinchers to be 70% liable and Lenetra

² It is important to point out that Outlaw had undergone a prior hip replacement in 1995 and a follow up procedure in 2005 [T-137] and that she was placed under certain restrictions of what she could and could not do. [T161-163] The picking up of the catfish and the sugar were both against her prior restrictions given to her by her doctor as result of her previous hip replacement.

³ Outlaw dismissed the individual, Cindy Scott, prior to trial. [R-358 & T-87] {591182.DOC}4

Outlaw 30% liable, resulting in a \$91,000.00 verdict for Outlaw. [T302-303 & R353]

Following the trial, Penny Pinchers' filed its Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial. [R-361-391]. A hearing was held on these motions on June 14, 2009. [T-309-326]. The trial court denied these motions on July 14, 2009 [R-428]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict, not the weight of the evidence. *Tharp v. Bunge Corp.*, 641 So. 2d 20, 23 (Miss. 1994). In considering a motion pursuant to Rule 50(b), a court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion is made, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inferences there from. *Mongeon v. A & V Enterprises, Inc.* 697 So. 2d 1183 (Miss. 1997). The court should consider the evidence offered by the non-moving party and the uncontradicted evidence offered by the moving party. *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 41 (Miss. 2003). In other words, where the evidence shows that Lenetra Outlaw has failed to make a prima facie showing of the elements of her claim, judgment notwithstanding the verdict is proper. *Bankston v. Pass Road Tire Center, Inc.*, 611 So. 2d 998 (Miss. 1992). Accordingly, a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is proper where the non-moving party's evidence is so lacking that reasonable jurors would be unable to reach a verdict in favor of that party. *C & C Trucking Co. v. Smith*, 612 So. 2d 1092 (Miss. 1992); *Turnbough v. Steere Broadcasting Corp.*, 681 So. 2d 1325 (Miss. 1996).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court erred in not granting Penny Pincher's motion for directed verdict [T-221-241] or Penny Pincher's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. [R-361-391].

The case before this Court is an unusual but simple case of premises liability. The unusual twist comes from the fact that the alleged unreasonably dangerous condition is a four month old miniature dachshund puppy named Sophie. Outlaw must prove: 1.) that a dangerous condition existed, and 2.) Penny Pinchers had notice of the dangerous condition. *Downs v. Choo*, 646 So. 2d 84, 86 (Miss. 1995).

I. The Trial Court committed error in not finding that Outlaw failed to prove that the four month old dachshund, Sophie, constituted a dangerous condition on August 16, 2006.

The trial court erred in allowing the jury to find that Sophie constituted a dangerous condition without the necessary proof. Outlaw has argued that this matter is essentially a premises liability claim and not a dog bite case and, as such, the "dog law" established in Mississippi has no relevance. Penny Pinchers disagrees. This is a case which involves allegations of injuries caused by a four month old miniature dachshund inside the Penny Pinchers store. The issues being dealt with here are not inanimate objects of a spill or a box out of place, the "condition" being complained of is a four month old puppy. Mississippi "dog law" must apply in this premises liability case, at a minimum, in setting the threshold of what Outlaw must prove to establish a dangerous condition.

Outlaw has succeeded, with the trial court's rulings, to circumvent the requirement to prove that a dangerous condition even existed. "[A] property owner cannot be found liable for the plaintiff's injury where no dangerous condition exists". *Delmont v. Harrison County Sch. Dist.*, 944 So. 2d 131, 133 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Outlaw has argued that she only has to show that Sophie was brought onto the premises by Penny Pinchers manager and that she alleges that Sophie caused her injury, in order to meet her burden of proof. Outlaw put on no proof to even allow the jury to decide whether Sophie was a dangerous condition, much less whether or not

{591182.DOC}6

Penny Pinchers knew or should have known that Sophie was a dangerous condition. Outlaw has admitted in her request for admissions [R-73-74], as well as in her trial testimony, [T-183-186 &T190-191] that she has ZERO knowledge of whether Sophie had ever exhibited any actions that would indicate she would do something to harm anyone.⁴ The Plaintiff has admitted the following:

<u>REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 20:</u> Admit that you are not aware of anyone that the subject dog, Sophie, chases, barked at, bit or growled at prior to the incident you allege in your Complaint. RESPONSE: Admitted.

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 21: Admit that you are not aware of any evidence that the subject dog, Sophie, ever chased, barked at, bit or growled at anyone prior to the incident you allege in your Complaint. **RESPONSE:** Admitted.

[R-73-74]

In her proffered testimony, Ms. Outlaw testified as follows:

Q. Ms. Outlaw, you do not know if Sophie, Cindy Scott's dog, had ever barked at a customer prior to August 16th, 2006, did you?

A. No.

Q. You do not know that prior to August 16, 2006, whether or not Sophie had ever chased a customer, do you?

A. No.

Q. And you do not know that prior to August 16, 2006, that Sophie had ever gotten outside of her containment, do you?

A. No.

Q. You also do not know – have any knowledge whatsoever about the character of disposition of Sophie prior to August 16th, 2006, do you?

A. Huh-uh (no).

[T-190-191]

⁴ During cross examination of the Plaintiff, counsel for the defendant attempted to question Ms. Outlaw regarding her knowledge of the dangerous propensity of Sophie. Plaintiff's counsel objected to the same and the Court sustained the objection on the basis of relevance. [T-183-186]. However, to preserve the record, defense counsel proffered Ms. Outlaw's testimony on her knowledge of the dangerous propensity of Sophie. [T-190-191].

If this would have been a dog attack case, the case would end here, as there would be no proof to circumvent the "one bite rule" which has been held to be valid in Mississippi for many years. Mississippi case law is clear that a dog is not dangerous *per se. Poy v. Grayson*, 273 So. 2d 491 (Miss. 1973). In order to establish liability on the keeper of Sophie, Outlaw MUST establish that Sophie had shown dangerous propensities prior to the August 16, 2006 incident. *Poy v. Grayson* at 494. Outlaw admitted that she could not do so. [R-73-74] [T-190-191]. Therefore, Outlaw cannot prove that Sophie was dangerous or that Sophie being in the store constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition.

If the trial court's ruling were to stand a plaintiff would only have to prove that a defendant owned the dog that a plaintiff makes some complaint of and that would be enough to send the question of liability to a jury. The standard imposed on Penny Pinchers in this case was the strict liability standard imposed on person's keeping wild animals - not four month old miniature dachshund puppies. *Yazoo & M. V. R. Co. v. Gordon*, 184 Miss. 885, 186 So. 631, 632 (1939); *Byrnes v. City of Jackson*, 140 Miss. 656, 105 So. 861, 863 (1925); *Phillips v. Garner*, 106 Miss. 828, 64 So. 735, 736 (1914). Mississippi law does not support the decision by the trial court in imposing this strict liability standard on keepers of domestic animals nor does it impose a strict liability standard on business owners and the judgment against Penny Pinchers should be reversed and rendered in favor of Penny Pinchers. . "[Strict liability is not imposed on business owners in premises liability cases". *Martin v. Rankin Circle Apartments*, 941 So. 2d 854, 864 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 41 (Miss. 2003)

II. The Trial Court erred in not finding that Outlaw failed to prove that Penny Pinchers had actual knowledge or constructive knowledge of Sophie creating a dangerous condition.

This Court's inquiry should end as Outlaw cannot prove that Sophie demonstrated a dangerous propensity prior to the August 16, 2006 incident. Therefore, without this evidence to establish, at least a question of dangerous propensity, Outlaw cannot prove a dangerous condition. Without some dangerous condition to complain of Outlaw cannot prove that Penny Pinchers had knowledge of this "dangerous condition".

Outlaw is required after establishing that a dangerous condition existed (which she cannot) to establish evidence to prove that Penny Pinchers knew or should have known of the existence of this dangerous condition. *Downs v. Choo*, 646 So. 2d 84, 86 (Miss. 1995).

Outlaw put on no proof at trial to demonstrate that Penny Pincher's had any knowledge or should have had any knowledge that Sophie was a danger. [T-190-191] In fact, the testimony and pleadings filed by Outlaw indicate that she has no evidence to demonstrate any knowledge by Penny Pinchers that this four month old miniature dachshund had ever exhibited any prior dangerous propensity. There is NO proof of any failure to warn of any such dangerous condition. [T-190-191]

Given Outlaw's failure to legally establish these prerequisites required in a premises liability case, much less, a dog liability case, this Court should reverse the trial court and grant Penny Pinchers' motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

III. The Trial Court erred in allowing Dr. Butler to testify as to causation of Outlaw's alleged injuries.

Dr. Allen Butler's testimony should have been precluded under Mississippi Rules of Evidence 403 and 702. Dr. Butler's testimony also failed the meet the legal certainty requirements of the Daubert test . Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31 (Miss. 2003).

Dr. Butler, the orthopedic surgeon who operated on Outlaw, is not qualified to render an opinion on causation as there were multiple factors which could have contributed to the hip replacement. [R-389-390]. Furthermore, Dr. Butler's causation opinion was based only on the incomplete history given to him by Outlaw. [R-384] Butler did not do any independent analysis to be able to render a valid opinion as to the cause of the symptoms he was presented by Outlaw. This does not arise to the level in which Butler should have been allowed to testify as a jury could give a medical doctor undue weight. *Cuevas v. Copa Casino*, 828 So.2d 851 (Miss. App., 2002). For this additional reason, this Court should find that the trial court erred and reverse and render in favor of Penny Pinchers.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN NOT FINDING THAT OUTLAW FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE FOUR MONTH OLD DACHSHUND, SOPHIE, CONSTITUTED A DANGEROUS CONDITION ON AUGUST 16, 2006.

Lenetra Outlaw would be considered an invitee under Mississippi law. An invitee is one who enters onto another's land with the purpose of such visit being that each party will be benefitted. *Wright v. Caffey*, 123 So.2d 841 (Miss. 1960). A business invitee enters onto another's property at the express or implied invitation of the property owner or business owner for the mutual advantage of each party. *Id.* at 474, *citing*, *Nowell v. Harris*, 68 So.2d 464, 467 (1953). The duty owed by the property owner to the invitee is one of *reasonable care*. A property owner is *not an absolute insurer of another's safety* but is charged with the duty of

{591182.DOC}10

reasonable care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition. *Wilson v. Allday*, 487 So.2d 793, 795 (Miss. 1986). Further, the owner is required to warn the invitee of any *dangerous conditions* which are not readily apparent and which the owner knows of, or should know of, in his exercise of reasonable care. *Id*; *see also*, *Downs v. Corder*, 377 So.2d 603 (Miss. 1979); *J.C. Penney Co. v. Sumrall*, 318 So.2d 829 (Miss. 1975); *Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v. Sexton*, 235 So.2d 267 (Miss. 1970). The owner is only required to use reasonable care to maintain the property in a reasonably safe condition and to warn the invitee of any hidden dangers. *McGovern v. Scarborough*, 566 So.2d 1225 (Miss. 1990).

In the present case, Penny Pinchers was required to keep the premises "reasonably safe" and to warn Outlaw of any "dangerous conditions" which were not readily apparent and of which Penny Pinchers had knowledge or should have had knowledge, in the exercise of reasonable care. *Downs v. Choo*, 656 So. 2d 84, 86 (Miss. 1995). Penny Pinchers did not breach any duty, as there was no known dangerous condition in which Outlaw could complain of. The existence of a dangerous condition is the first element the Plaintiff must prove in a premises liability case. *Delmont v. Harrison County Sch. Dist.*, 944 So. 2d 131, 133 (Miss. App. Ct. 2006). ("[P]roperty owner cannot be found liable for the plaintiff's injury where no dangerous condition exists.")

It is well settled that dogs are not *per se* dangerous conditions. *Poy v. Grayson*, 273 So. 2d 491 (Miss. 1973). In other words, there must be something specific about Sophie at issue which makes this particular four month old "wiener dog" puppy dangerous. The Court in *Poy* expounded as follows: "[t]here [must] be some proof that the animal has exhibited some dangerous propensity or disposition prior to the attack complained of, and, moreover, it must be shown that the owner knew or reasonably should have known of this propensity or disposition and reasonably should have foreseen that the animal was likely to attack someone." *Id.* at 494.

{591182.DOC}11

The court in *Mongeon v. A & V Enterprises, Inc.*, 733 So.2d 170 (Miss. 1997), is instructive on the issue of what exactly amounts to evidence of a dangerous propensity. In *Mongeon*, the Plaintiff was attacked by two (2) black Labrador retrievers while in the common area of a trailer park where she resided. There was no dispute that the dogs were owned the defendants. The only issue was whether the defendant had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous propensities of the dogs. The *Monegon* court quoted *Poy v. Grayson* as well-settled law that for an owner to be exposed to liability for an attack by his animal there must be proof that *prior to* the attack the animal had exhibited some dangerous propensity and that the owner either knew or should have known of the dangerous propensity and reasonably foreseen that the animal was likely to attack someone. *Mongeon* was a premise liability issue in which the Supreme Court held that propensity must be proven to find liability against the land owners.

Therefore for Lenetra Outlaw to establish that Penny Pinchers was liable in this case, she must prove that *prior to* the August 16, 2006, incident, Sophie had demonstrated a "dangerous propensity" and that Penny Pincher's knew or should have known of this propensity. *Id.* There is no evidence that Sophie, the four (4) month old, four (4) pound "wiener" dog had ever demonstrated any behavior which could be considered a "dangerous propensity." Cindy Scott, Sophie's owner, testified that she had never observed Sophie chase, bark at, bite or demonstrate any dangerous propensity either before or after the August 16, 2006, incident. [T-124-125; T-129]. Ms. Scott testified as follows:

Q. Okay. And prior to August 16th, 2006, had Sophie ever barked at anyone in the store before?

A. No, sir.

Q. And prior to August 16th, 2006. Had Sophie ever chased any customers in the store before?

A. No, sir.

Q. And prior to August 16th, 2006, Mrs. Scott, had Sophie ever

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