# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2009-CA-01324

#### **PENNY PINCHERS**

V.

**CIVIL ACTION NO. 2009-CA-01324** 

# CYNTHIA SCOTT, PENNY PINCHERS and WILLIAM B. JOHNSON d/b/a PENNY PINCHERS

DEFENDANTS

PLAINTIFF

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CLAY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CLAY COUNTY CAUSE NO. 2007-0024

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORLANDO R. RICHMOND, SR., M CHYNEE A. BAILEY, MSB 1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 Post Office Box 6010 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158-6010 Telephone: 601.948.5711 Facsimile: 601.985.4500

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **PENNY PINCHERS**

## APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VERSUS

### CAUSE NO. 2009-CA 01324

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of Trial Court2
B. Undisputed Facts3
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT7
1. Standard of Review for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict
2. Defendants Failed to Maintain a Reasonably Safe Business Premises
3. Penny Pinchers and Scott Failed to Warn Lenetra Outlaw
4. Dr. Butler's Testimony Was Properly Admitted 12
<ol> <li>Dr. Butler Clearly Related Lenetra Outlaw's Injuries to the Incident at Penny Pinchers on August 16, 2006</li></ol>
6. Reliance Upon Plaintiff's History is Proper
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FILING

ı.

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Cases

Ala. Great S. R.R. Co. v. Lee, 826 So. 2d 1232 (Miss. 2002)
Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993)
Douglas v. Great Atlantic & Pac Tea Co., 405 So. 2d 107 (Miss. 1981)
Estate of White ex rel White v. Rainbow Casino-Vicksburg P'ship, 910 So. 2d 713 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Henson v. Roberts, 679 So. 2d 1041 (Miss. 1996)7
Jerry Lee's Grocery, Inc. v. Thompson, 528 So. 2d 293 (Miss. 1988)
K-Mart Corporation v. Hardy, 735 So. 2d 975 (Miss. 1999)
Mayfield v. Hairbender, 903 So. 2d 733 (Miss. 2005) 12
Miss. Transportation Comm'n v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31 (Miss.2003) 13
Mongeon v. A & V Enterprises, Inc., 697 So. 2d 1183 (Miss. 1997)
Poy v. Grayson, 273 So. 2d 491 (Miss. 1973)9
Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc., 697 So. 2d 373 (Miss. 1997)7
Vaughn v. Ambrosino, 883 So. 2d 1167 (Miss. 2004)
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Littleton, 822 So. 2d 1056 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
<i>White v. Stewman</i> , 932 So. 2d 27 (Miss 2006)7
Winn-Dixie Supermarkets v. Hughes, 156 So. 2d 734 (Miss. 1963)
Rules and Statutes
Miss. R. Evid. 702

# **APPELLEE'S STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. Whether the trial court correctly denied Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict;
- 2. Whether the trial court correctly held that prior knowledge of propensities of the dog is not relevant in a premises liability case;
- 3. Whether the trial court correctly held that proof of actual or constructive knowledge of the condition is not required when the condition is created by the landowner; and
- 4. Whether the trial court correctly admitted Dr. Butler's testimony regarding causation of Outlaw's alleged injuries.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of Trial Court

Lenetra Outlaw filed this premises liability action on February 1, 2007, against Defendants Cynthia Scott, Penny Pichers and William B. Johnson d/b/a Penny Pinchers. (R. at 11-17).<sup>1</sup> The Complaint alleges that the retail grocery store and its employee were negligent by breaching their duty to keep the business premises reasonably safe business invitees. Specifically, the manager brought her dog to the premises and, while initially securing the dog in a location separate from customers, allowed the dog to escape, frighten and chase Plaintiff. Additionally, Defendants failed to warn customers of the dog's presence on the business premises. (R. at 11-17). The Complaint further alleges that these acts or omissions on the part of the defendants caused Plaintiff to suffer a serious bodily injury and incur significant damages. (R. at 11-17).

Upon completion of discovery, Defendants sought summary judgment. In doing so, Defendants relied solely upon "dog bite" cases in support of their contention that the chain of events involving the dog did not constitute a breach the duties owed to Plaintiff as a business invitee. (R. at 42-82, 83-92). Outlaw responded to the motion by highlighting the fact that notice of the propensities of the dog is absolutely irrelevant in a premises liability case such as this. (R. at 103-154.). The Circuit Court of Clay County denied the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment holding that "there is 'some modicum of material evidence' in that Sophie, the miniature dachshund puppy, was not in a location secured away from Penny Pincher's customers". (R. at 206-208).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Record will be denoted as (R. at Page Number). Citations to the Transcript will be denoted as (T. at Page Number). Citations to the Exhibits will be denoted as (E. at Page Number).

The trial of this matter began on April 8, 2009. The jury returned a verdict in favor of Lenetra Outlaw and determined that her total damages attributable to the accident are \$130,000.00. (R. at 376-377). The jury assessed 70% of the fault to Defendants and the remaining 30% of fault to Plaintiff Outlaw. Accordingly, the Judgment in favor of Plaintiff Outlaw is in the amount of \$91,000.00. (R. at 376-377).

Defendants filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial on May 1, 2009. (R. at 36-391). On July 14, 2009, the Circuit Court of Clay County denied post-trial relief. (R. at 428). On August 10, 2009, Defendants perfected their appeal to this Court. (R. at 429).

#### B. Undisputed Facts

Plaintiff Lenetra Outlaw ("Plaintiff") seeks damages for bodily injuries suffered while on the business premises of Defendants. (R. at 11-17). Specifically, on August 16, 2006, Plaintiff was a customer in Defendants' retail grocery store in West Point, Mississippi. (T. at 140). Plaintiff had been a customer of Penny Pinchers for approximately two years prior to the incident which forms the basis of this litigation. (T. at 140). On the date of the incident, as Plaintiff walked past the check-out counter to begin her shopping, suddenly and without warning, she was startled by a dog barking and scampering behind her. (T. 144-146). The dog, it was later learned, was owned by Defendant Cynthia Scott, who was the on-duty manager of Penny Pinchers. (T. at 108). At that time Penny Pinchers was owned by Defendant William B. Johnson, who was aware of and approved the dog's presence at his place of business. (T. at 107).

On August 16, 2006, the dog had been allowed to escape from a make-shift enclosure as a result of the failure of the store's employee(s) to secure the enclosure. (T. at 109-111). This enclosure was nothing more than a piece of pegboard which was

flush against the floor. (T. at 109-111). Defendants admit that there was no beware of dog sign nor any other indication to Plaintiff, prior to her entering the store, that the dog was present in the store. (T. at 111).

Plaintiff, who is generally afraid of dogs, was surprised, startled and frightened when she heard both the barking and the scampering behind her and she attempted to get away from the pursuing animal. (T. at 144-146). In her effort to do so, and while trying to look over her shoulder to locate the dog, she collided into and tried to climb onto a freezer situated near the rear of the store. (T. at 146-147). Once the dog was secured, Plaintiff attempted to continue shopping but quickly realized that she was injured, and informed Defendant Cynthia Scott of the injury. (T. at 118-119). As it turns out, the sequence of events caused a prosthetic device, which had been implanted in Plaintiff as a part of hip replacement surgery, to become non-functional and lead to extremely painful suffering by Plaintiff. (T. at 149-150). It was necessary for Plaintiff to immediately undergo surgery by having a new device implanted. The surgery was performed by Dr. Allen Butler, an orthopaedic surgeon in Starville, Mississippi. As a result of the injury and required surgery, Plaintiff Outlaw was subjected to costly and time consuming physical therapy among other damages. (T. at 124-135).

Plaintiff filed the Complaint herein alleging a negligence cause of action on a theory of premises liability. (R. at 11-17). Plaintiff does not now claim, nor has she ever claimed, that the dog actually bit her. (T. at 11-17). Instead, Plaintiff has alleged that the failure to properly restrain the dog such that it was allowed to bark at and chase her as well as the failure to warn Plaintiff, a business invitee, of the presence of dog constitute a breaches of the duties owed to her and are a proximate cause of her substantial damages. (R. at 11-17).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court was justified in its denial of Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict and its denial of Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. This case involves the failure of a retail grocery business to keep its premises reasonably safe for its customers and of its failure to warn. With permission of the owner, the manager Cynthia Scott brought her dog to the premises, failed to keep the dog in a location separate from unsuspecting shoppers, and failed to warn shoppers of the dog's presence. These acts and omissions ultimately lead to the Plaintiff suffering serious bodily injury and incurring significant damages.

It is important to note that there are no significant factual disputes. The pertinent issue before this Court is which analytical framework applies—premises liability or dog bite jurisprudence. Defendants, in an earlier Motion for Summary Judgment, and through their post-trial motions unsuccessfully relied upon irrelevant and easily distinguishable "dog bite" case law in support of their contention that the chain of events involving the dog did not serve to breach the duties owed to Plaintiff as a business theories related to notice of the propensities of the dog and whether or not the dog at issue was capable of biting anyone. Of course, relevant premises liability case law does not include a notice component when the condition is created by the premises owner, as is the situation in the instant matter. Therefore, this basis for Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict is fatally flawed and without merit.

The trial court also correctly held that Dr. Butler's testimony via deposition was admissible. Dr. Butler clearly stated throughout his deposition that the events at Penny

Pinchers lead to the revision surgery which he performed. Also, Dr. Butler's reliance upon the history provided by Plaintiff regarding the events giving rise to her injury is the usual and customary practice of physicians. Indeed, statements made to physicians for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment are excluded from the hearsay rule because of their likely inherent trustworthiness given the important circumstances under which such statements are made.

One of the illogical conclusions to be drawn from Defendants position on this issue is that in order to lay a foundation for Dr. Butler's testimony, he would be required to perform some independent investigation by going to Penny Pinchers to view the scene, taking measurements and speaking with witnesses. Surely, if the history of the injury provided to Dr. Butler by Plaintiff Outlaw was inconsistent with the nature of the injury and her past medical history, Dr. Butler certainly could have testified to such an opinion based upon his education, training and experience.

The reality is that it is beyond dispute that Plaintiff walked in the store. It is beyond dispute that Defendant Cynthia Scott personally witnessed the collision into the freezer precipitated by the dog on the loose. There is no dispute that Plaintiff was taken from the store in an ambulance and in tears. It is a fact that surgery was performed on an emergent basis. The result is that this issue is a non-starter for Defendants in that there is indisputable and overwhelming evidence of causation quite apart from Plaintiff Outlaw's recitation of the facts or Dr. Butler's reliance on the history provided to him.

Accordingly, the rulings by the lower court on these issues was proper, and the verdict of the jury is fully supported by the evidence consistent with the jury's fact-finding role.

#### ARGUMENT

#### 1. Standard of Review for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict

The standard of review for the denial of a directed verdict and a judgment notwithstanding the verdict is the same. *Ala. Great S. R.R. Co. v. Lee*, 826 So. 2d 1232, 1235 (Miss. 2002). This Court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. *Id.* at 1235 (quoting *Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc.*, 697 So. 2d 373, 376 (Miss. 1997). "If the evidence is sufficient to support a verdict in favor of the non-moving party, the trial court properly denied the motion." *Henson v. Roberts*, 679 So. 2d 1041, 1044-1045 (Miss. 1996). In other words, this Court considers "whether the evidence, as applied to the elements of a party's case, is either so indisputable, or so deficient, that the necessity of a trier of fact has been obviated." *White v. Stewman*, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss 2006).

#### 2. Defendants Failed to Maintain a Reasonably Safe Business Premises

Under Mississippi law, a negligence claim consists of four elements: (1) a duty to conform to a certain standard of conduct; (2) a breach of that duty; (3) a causal connection between the conduct and the resulting injury; and (4) actual loss or damage resulting to the interests of another. *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Littleton*, 822 So. 2d 1056, 1058 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

With respect to a negligence cause of action on a theory of premises liability, a plaintiff may espouse one of three theories in support of a claim of negligence. They are: (1) that defendant's own negligence created a dangerous condition which caused plaintiff's injury; (2) that defendant had actual knowledge of a condition which defendant itself did not cause, but defendant failed to adequately warn plaintiff of the danger faced as an invitee; or (3) that, based upon the passage of time, defendant should have known of the dangerous condition caused by another party if defendant had acted

reasonably imputing constructive knowledge of the condition to the defendant. *K-Mart Corporation v. Hardy*, 735 So. 2d 975 (Miss. 1999). When a dangerous condition is created by the premises owner's own negligence, the plaintiff is not required to offer evidence tending to show that the owner had either actual or constructive knowledge of such condition. *Hardy*, 735 So. 2d 975 citing *Douglas v. Great Atlantic & Pac Tea Co.*, 405 So. 2d 107, 110 (Miss. 1981); *Jerry Lee's Grocery, Inc. v. Thompson*, 528 So. 2d 293, 295 (Miss. 1988); *Winn-Dixie Supermarkets v. Hughes*, 156 So. 2d 734, 736 (Miss. 1963).

In analyzing premises liability, a court must first look to whether the injured party, at the time of the injury, was an invitee, licensee, or trespasser. *Estate of White ex rel White v. Rainbow* Casino-*Vicksburg P'ship*, 910 So. 2d 713, 718 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). It is beyond dispute that Lenetra Outlaw, the Plaintiff, held the status of invitee at the time of the injury. After determining the status of the injured party, the Court must next look to the duty owed to that party by the premises owner. *Id.* The owner or operator of a business premises owes to an invitee the duty to exercise reasonable care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition and, if the owner or operator is aware of a dangerous condition which is not readily apparent to the invitee, he is under a duty to warn the invitee of such condition. *Jerry Lee's Grocery, Inc. Thompson*, 528 So. 2d 293, 295 (Miss. 1988).

Although Defendants correctly recite the appropriate standard of care for invitees in their brief, Defendants' entire analysis thereafter is based upon irrelevant dog bite case law. The body of cases that addresses dog bites has incorporated within it a requirement that the owner have actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous propensities of the dog. *Mongeon v. A & V Enterprises, Inc.*, 697 So. 2d 1183 (Miss.

8

-

1997); *Poy v. Grayson*, 273 So. 2d 491 (Miss. 1973). Unfortunately for Defendants, this line of cases has absolutely nothing to do with premises liability. Incredibly, Defendants are utilizing the fact that their failure to safeguard the Plaintiff on their business premises involved an unrestrained dog, as a red herring to attempt to incorporate a line of cases which would require notice of certain propensities of the dog. This analysis is confusing, misleading and wrong.<sup>2</sup>

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